## THE ROLE OF THE PERCHLORATE ION AS LIGAND IN SOLUTION

### LARS JOHANSSON

Division of Inorganic Chemistry, Chemical Center, University of Lund, P.O. Box 740, S-220 07 Lund 7 (Sweden)

(Received June 5th, 1973)

#### CONTENTS

A. Introduction	241
B. Consequences of perchlorate association	242
(i) Notation	
(ii) Constant ionic medium principle	
(iii) Central ion measurements	
(iv) Ligand measurements	
(v) Measurement of some intensive property	
(vi) Further aspects	
C. Literature survey	251
(i) Outer-sphere systems	252
(ii) Iron (III) system	
(iii) Thallium (I) system	257
(iv) Other systems	
D. Conclusions	259
Acknowledgement	260
References	260

#### A. INTRODUCTION

Reports on perchlorate complex formation in solution are rapidly accumulating<sup>1</sup>. A closer examination, however, reveals many controversies, not only on the strengths of the complexes but often on their very existence.

While most workers, using the "constant ionic medium principle", are aware of the possibility that the medium ions react to some degree with the species under study, few have given the consequences of such reactions more than a passing thought. Equations pertinent to complex formation with the medium anion have been given occasionally (e.g. refs. 2—5). It is more commonly argued as follows. In aqueous NaClO<sub>4</sub>, for instance, the so-called free metal ion concentration is actually the sum

$$\sum_{p} \sum_{q} \sum_{r} [M(H_2O)_p (Na^+)_q (ClO_4^-)_r]$$

As the medium is constant, this sum cannot be separated into its parts. Stability constants, valid in the particular medium, can be calculated. This reasoning is, however, an oversimplification. Particularly when we study weak complexes, we actually change the medium, e.g. by substituting ligand for  $ClO_4^-$ . Then the proportions between the terms in the sum are no longer constant. As a consequence, different experimental methods may give different results. This is a conclusion which does not seem to have been emphasized in the literature of solution chemistry. A thorough examination of the consequences of perchlorate association as well as a critical literature review thus seem relevant. As the perchlorate ion is by far the most commonly employed medium anion, this review will be restricted to this ion. The equations deduced, however, naturally apply to any (monovalent) medium anion.

It is sometimes maintained<sup>6,7</sup> that perchlorate association should be important only when outer-sphere complexes are studied. This view is not tenable, since ClO<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> may a priori form complexes with a cation, whether this is a labile aquated metal ion or an inert complex ion. The perchlorate complexes are probably mainly outer-sphere, also for labile cations, but this is also irrelevant. It is the strength of the complexes studied, relative to the perchlorate complexes, that is important. Thus, when weak complexes are studied, the possibility of competition from the perchlorate ion should always be considered.

The question whether perchlorate complexes are inner- or outer-sphere will not be further discussed, and nor will the type of bonding in these complexes. No specific meanings will be ascribed to the terms "complex formation" or "association"; these will be used synonymously.

# B. CONSEQUENCES OF PERCHLORATE ASSOCIATION

### (i) Notation

```
M metal ion
L ligand ion
A medium anion (perchlorate ion)
[] actual concentration
C total concentration
\beta_{m,n} \text{ stability constant of the complex MA}_m L_n: \\ \beta_{m,n} = [MA_m L_n] / ([M] [A]^m [L]^n) \\ 0 \le m \le M; \quad 0 \le n \le N \text{ (hence } \beta_{0,0} \equiv 1).
```

Apparent constants or functions, resulting from the neglect of perchlorate complexes, are printed in **bold** type.

### (ii) Constant ionic medium principle

When ionic equilibria are studied, it is customary to maintain a high and constant ionic medium in order to reduce the variations in activity coefficients. A perchlorate is almost exclusively used as "supporting electrolyte", e.g. sodium, lithium or ammonium perchlorate, or perchloric acid. Ideally, the electrolyte used should not introduce any impurities to the solutions and should not react with the species under study. The medium should keep the activity coefficients effectively constant.

Several authors have devised methods to reduce the impurity level of perchlorate solutions (see, for example, refs 9-11).

The medium ions may react with the ions under study in various ways. The perchlorate ion has, as well as associating tendencies, oxidizing properties, but the rate of reaction is normally negligibly small. The medium cation is, of course, also a potential complexing agent. The limitations in the use of H<sup>+</sup> and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> are obvious<sup>12</sup>. However, the tendencies of the alkali ions to associate with other ions are probably small, and have as a rule been neglected. They will also be neglected here.

Several authors have shown <sup>8,13-15</sup> that activity coefficients do change despite a constant medium, e.g. when a substantial amount of the medium cation is substituted by hydrogen ion, or the perchlorate ion by a halide ion. Occasionally, an improvement is seen when another cation is chosen for the supporting electrolyte. For perchlorate there is, however, often no alternative.

When very weak complexes, including perchlorate complexes, are studied, it is important to realize that in the end there always remains some uncertainty about the changes in activity coefficient. As the observed effect, i.e. the activity change, becomes small, it becomes increasingly difficult to assess the degree to which this change is due to a change in the activity coefficient (specific medium effect) or to a change in concentration (chemical reaction, formation of a new species). It should perhaps be emphasized that the fact that the experimental data fit a given model is no proof that the model is correct. Thus, although a model assuming constant activity coefficients and a weak perchlorate complex formation, for example, may explain data obtained with some experimental method, this is often not sufficient to prove the existence of the proposed complexes. Additional support is required, e.g. spectral evidence, or the fact that data from independent experiments fit the same model.

No definite answer can be given to the question of how, exactly, the concept "constant ionic medium" should be defined. There is no theoretical foundation for the use of a constant *ionic strength*, as defined by Lewis and Randall, except at low electrolyte concentrations. In more concentrated solutions it has often proved satisfactory and convenient to keep the total concentration of ionic charges constant. The present author has thus in a number of studies of halide complexes of polyvalent cations <sup>5,16,17</sup> kept the sum of the halide and the perchlorate ion concentrations constant.

$$I = [L] + [A] \tag{1}$$

A more general expression is of course

$$I = |z| [L] + [A] \tag{2}$$

where z is the ionic charge of the ligand. Equation (2) also covers the case of a neutral ligand, such as  $NH_3$ . However, in the following deductions it is assumed for simplicity that [L] and [A] are related by eqn. (1). I will, somewhat loosely, be called the "ionic strength". Naturally, if perchlorate association is to be considered for situations where (2) or any other relation between [L] and [A] is valid, equations corresponding to those given in the following can be readily derived using the proper expression in place of eqn. (1).

It is assumed, in this section, that activity coefficients are constant.

### (iii) Central ion measurements

In a mixture of the central ion M and the ligand L in a medium containing A as anion, we assume that mononuclear complexes of the general composition  $\mathrm{MA}_m \mathrm{L}_n$  are formed. The total concentration of M is then given by

$$C_{\mathbf{M}} = \sum_{n=0}^{N} \sum_{m=0}^{M} \left[ \mathbf{M} \mathbf{A}_{m} \mathbf{L}_{n} \right]$$
 (3)

Introducing the stability constants  $\beta_{m,n}$  and the condition (1) we obtain

$$C_{M} = [M] \sum_{n=0}^{N} \left( \sum_{m=0}^{M} \beta_{m,n} (I - [L])^{m} \right) [L]^{n}$$
 (4)

Since

$$(I - [L])^m = \sum_{j=0}^m (-1)^j {m \choose j} I^{m-j} [L]^j$$
 (5)

we may write

$$C_{\mathbf{M}} = [\mathbf{M}] \sum_{k=0}^{M+N} A_k [\mathbf{L}]^k \tag{6}$$

where  $A_k$  are constants.

$$A_{k} = \sum_{n} (-1)^{k-n} \left( \sum_{m=k-n}^{M} {m \choose k-n} I^{m+n-k} \beta_{m,n} \right)$$
 (7,k)

The summation limits for n are  $\max(0, k - M) \le n \le \min(k, N)$ . For instance,

$$A_0 = \beta_{0,0} + \beta_{1,0} I + \beta_{2,0} I^2 + \dots \qquad (\beta_{0,0} \equiv 1)$$
 (7,0)

$$A_1 = (\beta_{0,1} - \beta_{1,0}) + (\beta_{1,1} - 2\beta_{2,0})I + \dots$$
 (7,1)

In a large variety of experimental methods some quantity Q, proportional to [M], is measured more or less directly.

$$Q = q[M] = qC_M/(\sum_k A_k[L]^k)$$
(8)

Thus, in EMF measurements, if

$$E = E^0 + \frac{RT}{nF} \ln [M] \tag{9}$$

then  $\exp(EnF/RT)$  is proportional to [M]. In solubility measurements, in their simplest form<sup>18</sup>, a solubility product is valid.

$$K_{c} = [M] [L]^{\nu} \tag{10}$$

Hence,  $[L]^{-\nu}$  is proportional to [M]. Solvent extraction methods are analogous. All these methods can be termed central ion measurements. It is important to realize that in no normal case is the proportionality constant, q, known a priori in the medium employed. In order to eliminate q, we also measure Q in ligand-free solutions (or extrapolate Q to [L] = 0)

$$Q([L] = 0) = q [M]([L] = 0)$$
(11)

If complexes involving A were absent

$$[M] ([L] = 0) = C_{M}$$
 (12)

and q could readily be calculated. However, here

[M] ([L] = 0) = 
$$C_{\rm M}/A_0$$
 (13)

according to eqn. (6), and

$$X = \frac{Q([L] = 0)}{Q} = \sum_{k} \frac{A_{k}}{A_{0}} [L]^{k}$$
 (14)

Thus, provided [L] is known (if, say,  $C_{\rm M}$  is so low that [L]  $\approx C_{\rm L}$ ), the coefficients  $A_k/A_0$  can be determined. As a rule X is interpreted as

$$X = \sum_{k} \beta_{k} [L]^{k}$$
 (15)

It may be concluded that when the medium anion is involved in the complex formation, central ion measurements give the apparent constants

$$\beta_k = A_k / A_0 \tag{16}$$

If the simple (but quite plausible) situation that MA and the various  $ML_n$  are the only complexes formed is considered, then

$$\beta_1 = \frac{\beta_{0,1} - \beta_{1,0}}{1 + \beta_{1,0}I} \tag{17.1}$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}_k = \frac{\beta_{0,k}}{1 + \beta_{1,0}I} \quad k > 1 \tag{17,k}$$

In measurements of the type described,  $C_{\rm M}$  can as a rule be kept low, so that the condition (1) is effectively valid. Small deviations will give rise to only small corrections in the above equations.

## (iv) Ligand measurements

For the ligand concentration the following equation applies.

$$C_{L} = [L] + \sum_{n=1}^{N} \left( n \sum_{m=0}^{M} [MA_{m}L_{n}] \right)$$
 (18)

By analogy with eqn. (6) we may then write

$$C_{L} - [L] = [M] \sum_{k=1}^{N+M} B_{k} [L]^{k}$$
 (19)

where

$$B_{k} = \sum_{n} n(-1)^{k-n} \left( \sum_{m} {m \choose k-n} \beta_{m,n} I^{m+n-k} \right)$$
 (20)

When  $C_{\mathbf{M}}$  is high enough, the complex formation causes a significant difference between  $C_{\mathbf{L}}$  and [L], and it becomes meaningful to perform *ligand measurements*. Some quantity proportional to [L] is then measured. For instance, if L is the anion of a weak acid, an electrode sensitive to [H<sup>+</sup>] may be used. Halides may be studied by the aid of silver—silver halide electrodes. The solubility of a sparingly soluble salt  $M'L_{y}(s)$ , where M' is a cation other than M, is often used as a sensitive measure of [L].

Whatever technique is used in ligand measurement, a calibration must be performed. For this purpose measurements are performed in solutions free of the central ion [M]. Here,  $C_{\rm L} = [{\rm L}]$ , since none of the complexes considered can be formed. Thus, the calibration is "correct" and a correct value of [L] is readily assessed also when  $C_{\rm M} > 0$ . The quantity

$$\widetilde{n} = (C_{\rm L} - [L])/C_{\rm M} \tag{21}$$

may then be computed. From eqns. (19) and (6)

$$\overline{n} = \left(\sum_{k=1}^{M+N} B_k \left[L\right]^k\right) / \left(\sum_{k=0}^{M+N} A_k \left[L\right]^k\right)$$
(22)

Since, generally,  $B_k \neq kA_k$ , a model

$$\overline{n} = \left(\sum_{k=1}^{k} k \beta_k [L]^k\right) / \left(\sum_{k=0}^{k} \beta_k [L]^k\right)$$
(23)

cannot always be forced onto the experimentally determined  $\overline{n}$ . However, often only a part of the  $\overline{n}$  curve is known, or the perchlorate association does not interfere in the whole range studied. The experimental data may then fit to the model (23). Identification of eqns. (22) and (23) yields

$$\beta_1 = B_1/A_0 \tag{24.1}$$

$$\beta_2 = (B_1(B_1 - A_1) + B_2A_0)/2A_0^2 \tag{24.2}$$

and so forth.

If we again consider the simple situation only where MA and the various  $ML_n$  are formed  $B_1 = \beta_{0,1}$  according to eqn. (20), and thus, for example,

$$\beta_1 = \frac{\beta_{0,1}}{1 + \beta_{1,0} I} \tag{25,1}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}_{2} = \frac{\beta_{0,2}}{1 + \beta_{1,0} I} + \frac{\beta_{0,1} \beta_{1,0}}{(1 + \beta_{1,0} I)^{2}}$$
(25,2)

(Compare eqn. (17)).

If, when  $C_{\rm M}$  is high, a significant amount of A is consumed, so that eqn. (1) is no longer fulfilled, it should nevertheless be possible to obtain a correct value of  $\overline{n}$  by extrapolating to  $C_{\rm M}=0$ .

The ligand number, n, can often be obtained when other methods, not ligand measurements in the sense defined here, are used. For example, potentiometric central ion measurements may yield  $\overline{n}$  by the Bodländer equation. In solubility measurements, the slope of the solubility curve yields  $\overline{n}$ , as does the slope of the partition curve in solvent extraction measurements. In these cases, the ligand number determination is based on the equation n

$$\overline{n} = d \log X/d \log [L] \tag{26}$$

If we actually have the apparent X defined by eqn. (14), then

$$d \log X/d \log [L] = \left(\sum_{k} k \frac{A_{k}}{A_{0}} [L]^{k}\right) / \left(\sum_{k} \frac{A_{k}}{A_{0}} [L]^{k}\right)$$
(27)

No constants other than those given by eqn. (16) can be extracted from this function.

## (v) Measurement of some intensive property

Often, stability constants are evaluated from measurements of some intensive property, F', that is the sum of contributions from several of the species in the solution

$$F' = d\left(\sum_{m,n} \varphi_{m,n} \left[ MA_m L_n \right] + \varphi_L \left[ L \right] \right)$$
 (28)

where d is a known constant, and  $\varphi$  are constant factors, often unknown. It is assumed for simplicity that ions from the medium do not contribute to F'.

The intensive property most commonly studied is optical absorbance. In this case d is the length of the light path through the solution and  $\varphi$  are the individual absorption coefficients

If  $\varphi_L$  is obtained from measurements in solutions where [L] =  $C_L$  = I, a new function, F, can be calculated

$$F = F'/d - \varphi_{\rm L} C_{\rm L} \tag{29}$$

Then (eqns. (28) and (18))

$$F = \sum_{m,n} (\varphi_{m,n} - n\varphi_{L}) [MA_{m}L_{n}]$$
(30)

As before, stability constants and eqn. (1) are introduced, [M] is eliminated, and eqn. (30) may be written

$$F/C_{\mathbf{M}} = \left(\sum_{k=0}^{M+N} F_k \left[\mathbf{L}\right]^k\right) / \left(\sum_{k=1}^{M+N} A_k \left[\mathbf{L}\right]^k\right) \tag{31}$$

where (cf. eqn. (7))

$$F_k = \sum_{n} (-1)^{k-n} \left( \sum_{m} {m \choose k-n} I^{m+n-k} (\varphi_{m,n} - n\varphi_L) \beta_{m,n} \right)$$
 (32)

and  $A_k$  are given by eqn. (7). Any attempt to fit eqn. (31) to a model

$$F/C_{\mathbf{M}} \left( \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{k} - k\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{\mathbf{L}}) \boldsymbol{\beta}_{k} [\mathbf{L}]^{k} \right) / \left( \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{\beta}_{k} [\mathbf{L}]^{k} \right)$$
(33)

will yield the same apparent constants as those given by eqns. (16) or (17). For absorbance measurements, the L method, or numerical methods of computation, are such "identification" methods<sup>20</sup>. Although eqns. (31) and (33) can always be identified, unreasonable (e.g. negative) absorption coefficient values may well be the apparent result of the  $ClO_4^-$  association. The errors that may occur when higher complexes are neglected, especially if the L method is used, have been discussed elsewhere<sup>20</sup>.

The direct identification requires [L] to be known; normally  $C_{\rm M}$  is kept low so that [L]  $\approx C_{\rm L}$ . There are, however, alternative ways of employing intensive property data that require [L] to be significantly different from  $C_{\rm I}$ .

In the method of corresponding solutions<sup>19</sup>, it is recognized (eqn. (31)) that  $F/C_M$  is a function of [L] only. Thus, when  $F/C_M$  is constant, [L] is also constant, as is  $\overline{n}$  (eqn. (22)). From measurements of F vs.  $C_L$  and  $C_M$  the connection between  $C_L$  and  $C_M$  at constant  $F/C_M$  is assessed. This connection is, as described (eqn. (21)), linear.

$$C_{L} = [L] + \overline{n} C_{M}$$
 (34)

The line yields [L] and  $\overline{n}$ , and from the function  $\overline{n}$  vs. [L] the constants given by eqns. (24) or (25) are computed.

There is, however, an important difference between this method and the ligand measurements, where [L] is unequivocally determined by direct measurement. Here, even a small deviation from eqn. (1) may distort eqn. (34) appreciably. An enconeous value of [L] then results, more so the longer the extrapolation to  $C_{\rm M}=0$ . Rather long extrapolations are often unavoidable, as the precision of F decreases rapidly with decreasing  $C_{\rm M}$ . Therefore, the method of corresponding solutions should be used with caution, when adverse effects of  $ClO_4^-$  association cannot safely be ruled out.

Another alternative is the M method<sup>20</sup>, best known from the work of Evans and Nancollas<sup>21</sup>. Absorbance, or any other intensive property, is measured at small ligand concentrations only,  $C_L \ll C_M$ . Complexes with more than one ligand need not be considered. For very small [L], eqn. (31) may be written

$$F/C_{\rm M} = F(C_{\rm L} = 0)/C_{\rm M} + \frac{1}{\Phi} [L]$$
 (35)

where  $\Phi$  is a constant. Moreover, according to eqns. (19) and (6)

$$C_1 = [L] (1 + [M] B_1)$$
 (36)

and

$$C_{\mathbf{M}} = [\mathbf{M}] A_{\mathbf{0}} \tag{37}$$

Непсе

$$C_{L}C_{M}/(F - F(C_{L} = 0)) = \Phi(1 + \frac{B_{1}}{A_{0}}C_{M})$$
 (38)

When the quantity on the left is plotted vs.  $C_{\rm M}$ , the constant  $B_1/A_0$  is obtained as slope/intercept (cf. eqn. (24,1)). If the assumptions used here are not justified, corrections add to eqn. (38). This method is less sensitive to slight deviations from eqn. (1). On the other hand, it is strictly limited to the region of very low ligand concentrations.

## (vi) Further aspects

We now concentrate on  $\beta_1$ , and moreover consider only the simple situation where no other complexes than  $\mathrm{ML}_n$  and  $\mathrm{MA}$  are formed. The preceding deductions may then be summarized as follows.

In the first place, ClO<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> association may not immediately become apparent in an experimental study since the pertinent equations normally retain their form. However, instead of the "true" constants, apparent constants result.

Secondly, the various methods of measurement divide into two classes.

- (1) Central ion measurements, direct intensive property measurements, and equivalent methods.
- (2) Ligand measurements, method of corresponding solutions, M method, and equivalent methods.

The two classes give, as long as eqn. (1) is valid, the apparent constants

$$\beta_1(1) = \frac{\beta_{0,1} - \beta_{1,0}}{1 + \beta_{1,0} I} \tag{39}$$

$$\beta_1(2) = \frac{\beta_{0,1}}{1 + \beta_{1,0} I} \tag{40}$$

Thus, if two different methods are applied to the same system, different values of  $\beta_1$  may result. Moreover, when this is the case, values of the "true" constants  $\beta_{0,1}$  and  $\beta_{1,0}$  may readily be calculated.

When is this possibility feasible? In the first place, the perchlorate complex is always weak. Therefore, for strong L complexes, no difference between  $\beta_1$  (1) and  $\beta_1$  (2) can be detected. Further, it is to be noted that

$$\beta_{1}(1) - \beta_{1}(2) = \frac{\beta_{1,0}}{1 + \beta_{1,0}I} \le \frac{1}{I}$$
(41)

The chances that the difference is significant decrease with increasing ionic strength. This is amplified by the fact that the constants normally decrease with increasing I, up to  $I \sim 1 M$ .

While it is true that for strong systems different methods give the same results, it should be emphasized that the constants observed,  $\beta_1$ , still differ from the "true"  $\beta_{0,1}$  by a factor  $(1 + \beta_{1,0} I)$ , regardless of the strength of the M-L complexes. The same is true for  $\beta_{0,n}$ , n > 1.

For weak systems there are other possible ways of assessing the true constants, but as these are probably mainly hypothetical, they will not be described here. Further aspects of this question will be discussed in connection with iron (III) perchlorate complexes (p. 256).

### C. LITERATURE SURVEY

In the following, the more important reports on perchlorate complex formation will be surveyed, with interest focussed primarily on aqueous solutions. Quantitative data are given in terms of stability constants even though other constants, e.g. instability constants, may be given in the original papers. The data are valid at or near 25°C.

A few systems, or groups of systems, of particular interest, viz. outer-sphere systems, the iron (III) system and the thallium(I) system, will be discussed separately. Perchlorate association to other metal ions will be discussed more briefly thereafter.

Evidence for perchlorate association has frequently been obtained indirectly in the course of other studies, often from considerations similar to those discussed in the previous section. Unfortunately, such evidence is more often than not reported only in passing, and the risk that valuable information may have escaped notice is evident.

More direct evidence for perchlorate association has been obtained with methods such as activity and conductance measurements, and spectroscopic methods. Some broad studies of this type deserve mention. Masterton and Berka<sup>22</sup> calculated stability constants of several systems from osmotic coefficient data. The conductivity of alkali perchlorates was studied by Bury et al.<sup>23</sup> and by D'Aprano<sup>24</sup>. Jones et al.<sup>25</sup> and Hester and Plane<sup>26</sup> studied Raman spectra of several perchlorates. Only for a few systems was any interaction observed. Klanberg et al.<sup>27</sup> studied several NMR spectra with similar results.

If the spectrum of any kind of metal ion is affected by perchlorate ion, or vice versa, it is usually taken as strong evidence for complex formation, although some workers

have called for caution, at least in the case of optical spectra<sup>28,29</sup>. On the other hand, the absence of an interaction is of course no proof of the absence of complex formation, as perchlorate complexes are often of the outer-sphere type, likely to leave spectra unaffected. This has been pointed out, normally, but claims to the contrary are not infrequent. It should also be noted that when the spectra are affected, the complex formed is not necessarily exclusively inner-sphere. Closer examinations (of systems with ligands other than  $ClO_4^-$ ) have shown that the complexes may be predominantly outer-sphere<sup>30-32</sup>.

## (i) Outer-sphere systems

Numerous workers have studied outer-sphere complexes formed between inert complex cations of the cobaltammine type, and a variety of ligands<sup>6</sup>. Typically, such complexes are weak, and as electrostatic attraction is an important factor in the bonding, the risk that ClO<sub>4</sub> will compete as ligand is evident.

Direct evidence for  $ClO_4^-$  association has been obtained by a variety of methods. Archer et al. <sup>33</sup> inferred from solubility studies that  $Co(NH_3)_5 Cl^{2+}$  and  $ClO_4^-$  form a complex, the stability constant at zero ionic strength being  $\approx 15 M^{-1}$ . Of the several other ligand ions investigated, nitrate, chloride, acetate and azide gave weaker association than perchlorate. Katayama and Tamamushi<sup>34</sup> studied the conductivity of several hexaamminecobalt salts, including perchlorate. The stability of the  $ClO_4^-$  complex was comparable to that of  $I^-$ , while the other ions investigated  $(NO_3^-, Cl^-, Br^-, SO_4^{2-}, C_2O_4^{2-})$  show stronger association. The constants were estimated from the deviations from the Onsager limiting equation, a method not without objections <sup>8,35</sup>. The authors <sup>34</sup> also point out that their quantitative results should be regarded with caution. This view is strengthened by the comparison with other studies of the hexaamminecobalt iodide and bromide systems <sup>16,17</sup>. On the other hand, there cannot be any doubt about the qualitative conclusion, that  $ClO_4^-$  is associated to hexaamminecobalt to some degree.

Burnett <sup>36</sup> interpreted earlier conductance <sup>37</sup> and activity coefficient measurements

Burnett<sup>36</sup> interpreted earlier conductance<sup>37</sup> and activity coefficient measurements (refs. 37–40) in terms of association. A significant perchlorate association to  $Co(en)_3^{3+}$ ,  $Co(pn)_3^{3+}Co(NH_3)_6^{3+}$  and  $Co(NH_3)_5Cl^{2+}$  was inferred.

Direct evidence of perchlorate association with various complex cations of a more qualitative kind has been reported by Mazzei and Lederer<sup>41</sup> and by Yoneda et al.<sup>42</sup> from electrophoresis measurements.

Nyman and Plane<sup>43</sup> studied the absorption spectra of  $Pt(en)_3^{4+}$  salts, including the perchlorate. Their interpretation is that the association between  $Pt(en)_3^{4+}$  and  $ClO_4^-$  is negligible. This result may seem surprising, in view of the high charge of the cation, but is questionable also for other reasons. It is in part based on the fact that  $ClO_4^-$  does not affect the absorption of  $Pt(en)_3^{4+}$ , which, as admitted<sup>43</sup>, does not preclude that a complex is nevertheless formed. Secondly, the authors studied  $Pt(en)_3^{4+} - Cl^-$  complexes using the spectrophotometric L method<sup>20</sup>, which is not reliable in a case like this, where higher complexes,  $ML_2$  etc., are quite likely to be formed. Therefore<sup>20</sup>, the constant estimated for, say,  $Pt(en)_3^{3}Cl^{3+}$ , is probably too low, and the absorption coefficient

of the same species too high. As can readily be shown, this will result in a trend in the direction found<sup>43</sup>, in the measurements in  $Cl^- - ClO_4^-$  mixtures of constant ionic strength. This trend may well obscure an opposite trend caused by  $ClO_4^-$  association. Thus, this experiment is no proof of lack of association between  $Pt(en)_4^{3+}$  and  $ClO_4^-$ .

It may be mentioned that  $ClO_4^-$  has no effect on the circular dichroism spectrum<sup>44,45</sup> of  $Co(en)_3^{3+}$ .

Evidence for perchlorate association of a more indirect kind has been produced by several workers. Typically, perchlorate association is put forward as a hypothesis to explain some apparent inadequacy in the measurements. The hypothesis is not always subjected to verifying (or disproving) tests. Larsson<sup>4</sup>, in a study of trans- $(Co(en)_2 (SCN)_2)^+$  – SCN<sup>-</sup> complexes found a discrepancy between measurements (solubility and distribution) in the presence and absence of perchlorate ions, which could be accounted for by assuming  $ClO_4^-$  complexes to be formed. An equation corresponding to eqn. (14) was derived. An experiment aimed at the direct proof of perchlorate association was inconclusive.

Mironov et al.  $^{46-49}$  studied hexaamminecobalt halide complexes and similarly found a much lower  $\beta_1$  value (chloride system) in 1 M perchlorate  $^{46}$  than in chloride solutions of varying ionic strength  $^{47}$ . Later  $^{48}$ , the difference was ascribed to perchlorate association. In further studies  $^{49}$  on the same systems at lower ionic strengths (0.1-0.2M), concordant values of the halide stability constants recalculated to zero ionic strength were secured by postulating suitable degrees of perchlorate association. While the halide stability constants thus obtained compare well with those found by others  $^{1,16,17}$ , the degrees of perchlorate association implied seem unreasonably high, for reasons not immediately evident. All in all, however, the data  $^{46-49}$  indicate some interaction between  $Co(NH_3)_5^{3+}$  and  $ClO_4^-$ .

In a number of papers,  $^{7,50,51}$  Heck has produced qualitative evidence for association between  $Co(NH_3)_6^{3+}$  and  $ClO_4^{-}$ . It was thus shown that the solubility product of  $Co(NH_3)_6(ClO_4)_3(s)$  increases<sup>7</sup>, and the apparent stability constant of  $Co(NH_3)_6 I^{2+}$  decreases<sup>50</sup> when  $[ClO_4^{-}]$  is increased at constant ionic strength. The light absorption of hexaamminecobalt bromide solutions is affected by perchlorate ions<sup>51</sup>. Heck also cited<sup>50,51</sup> certain low values<sup>52,53,46</sup> for the stability constant for  $Co(NH_3)_6 Cl^{2+}$  as evidence of perchlorate association. As pointed out elsewhere<sup>20</sup>, the main reason why low values have been obtained is the choice of an unreliable method.

Secondly, Heck<sup>7,50,51</sup> also attempted to assess the degree of perchlorate association more quantitatively. As both perchlorate  $(\beta_{1.0})$  and halide  $(\beta_{0.1})$  constants are given, at different ionic strengths ( $\leq 0.15\,M$ ), it seems rational to discuss the ratio,  $\beta_{1,0}/\beta_{0,1}$ . This ratio should be roughly independent of the ionic strength. In the first paper<sup>7</sup>,  $\beta_{1,0}\approx 22\,(I=0)$  is given, i.e.  $\beta_{1,0}/\beta_{0,1}\approx 0.37$ . From the data on iodide solutions<sup>50</sup>, the present author has estimated  $\beta_{1,0}/\beta_{0,1}\approx 0.43$ . The value preferred by Heck is, however, that estimated from light absorption measurements in hexaamminecobalt bromide solutions<sup>51</sup>,  $\beta_{1,0}/\beta_{0,1}\approx 1.0$ . No obvious reason can be seen why this experiment should be

preferred to the others. It must also be said that the numerous studies on the hexaam-minecobalt halide systems 1,16,17 under conditions where eqn. (1) is valid, strongly support a value  $\beta_{1,0}/\beta_{0,1} < 1$  (cf. eqn. (17,1) at high ionic strengths.

The studies just cited 7,50,51 are based on the assumption that activity coefficients

The studies just cited<sup>7,50,51</sup> are based on the assumption that activity coefficients are constant once the formal ionic strength is constant, even if one solution is composed largely of 1:1 salts and another of a 3:1 salt. It is doubtful if this assumption is true unless the ionic strength is very small (for a detailed discussion, see ref. 8).

When the  $Co(en)_3^{3^+} - I^-$  system was studied<sup>5</sup> by solubility measurements and the spectrophotometric M method, slightly different values of  $\beta_1$  were obtained,  $1.42 \pm 0.05 M^{-1}$  and  $1.73 \pm 0.15 M^{-1}$ , respectively (I=1M). The difference could be rationalized by assuming slight association between  $Co(en)_3^{3^+}$  and  $ClO_4^-$ . Then, the two methods employed would give constants according to eqns. (39) and (40), respectively. The values  $\beta_{0.1} = 2.5$  and  $\beta_{1.0} = 0.45$  fit the data<sup>5</sup>. The result should be regarded with caution, since the observed difference in  $\beta_1$  is small, and especially since the spectrophotometric method is sensitive to experimental errors. On the other hand, in view of the other evidence for association between cobaltammines and  $ClO_4^-$  presented in this section, the result appears to be quite reasonable.

In summarizing, a substantial number of data support the view that ClO<sub>4</sub> forms complexes with cobaltammines and other inert complex cations. Reliable and precise stability constants are lacking, however. As it is highly desirable to be able to investigate outer-sphere systems in constant media, quantitative data on the perchlorate association, preferably measured at high as well as at low ionic strengths, are much needed.

### (ii) Iron (III) system

The question of whether ClO<sub>4</sub> fc ms a complex with Fe<sup>3+</sup> was raised early; it has been the subject of lively debate over the years and, as will be seen, cannot as yet be considered as definitely settled. The question was discussed by Rabinowitch and Stockmayer<sup>54</sup>, and by Olerup<sup>55</sup>; both groups assumed from various lines of evidence that the association was negligible. Olson and Simonson<sup>56</sup> studied the hydrolysis of iron (III) in sodium, barium or lanthanum perchlorate solutions. In one series of experiments the perchlorate concentration was constant, in another the ionic strength. A difference in the degree of hydrolysis was observed between the two series. The authors<sup>56</sup> give as alternative (qualitative) explanations, either perchlorate complex formation or a kinetic salt effect. As perchlorate had no effect on the spectrum of Fe<sup>3+</sup>, the authors were inclined to prefer the latter explanation.

Contrary to the earlier investigators, Sutton<sup>57</sup> found that  $ClO_4^-$  influenced the spectrum of Fe<sup>3+</sup> by extending the measurements to shorter wavelengths ( $\geq 220$  nm) and/or higher perchloric acid concentrations (1 – 7M). A value of  $\sim 0.5$  was assigned to the constant at zero ionic strength.

Sykes<sup>58</sup> showed that the data of Olson and Simonson<sup>56</sup> are compatible with the

formation of  $Fe(ClO_4)^{2+}$ , and also presented independent evidence. As the calculations were later revised (see below), no details will be given here.

From earlier measurements on the Fe<sup>2+</sup>/Fe<sup>3+</sup> electron-exchange reaction, Horne<sup>59</sup> estimated the stability constant of Fe(ClO<sub>4</sub>)<sup>2+</sup> to  $0 \le \beta_1 \le 6$ , at the ionic strength I = 0.55M. As pointed out<sup>59</sup>, the data of Sykes<sup>58</sup> also fall within these limits. The estimate<sup>59</sup> is, however, based on a number of assumptions not subject to experimental verification.

The formation of  $Fe(ClO_4)^{2^+}$  was doubted by Coll et al.<sup>28</sup>. From spectrophotometric measurements, the stability constant of  $FeCl^{2^+}$  was determined for various  $HClO_4$  concentrations in the range 2.5 to 9M. The stability constant greatly increased with increasing  $[HClO_4]$  (increasing ionic strength). This would, however, be expected from the well-known increase in activity factors at high ionic strengths. The effect of  $Fe^{3^+} - ClO_4^-$  complex formation would take the opposite direction, as pointed out 28, but would be of a much more modest magnitude. It would therefore be swamped by the much larger medium effect. The observed effect is thus not relevant to the question of  $Fe^{3^+} - ClO_4^-$  complex formation. The medium effect can of course be largely explained by hydration changes<sup>28</sup>.

The data of Olson and Simonson<sup>56</sup> were analyzed in more detail in terms of  $Fe^{3+} - ClO_4^-$  association by Sykes<sup>3</sup>. The stability constant was estimated to be  $6.7M^{-1}$  and  $3.7M^{-1}$  at I = 0.024 and I = 0.044, respectively. These values were shown to be compatible with Bjerrum's theory, if it was assumed that  $Fe^{3+}$  and  $ClO_4^-$  are separated by two water molecules. Later, Richards and Sykes<sup>60</sup>, in connexion with a study of the hydrolysis of iron(III), estimated a value of the perchlorate constant in the range  $0-5.5M^{-1}$  at I=0.15. The values extracted from Olson and Simonson's data are consistent with this, with due regard to the differences in ionic strength <sup>60</sup>. Both estimates<sup>3,60</sup> are based on the assumption that activity factors are constant at constant ionic strength, irrespective of whether the medium is sodium or barium perchlorate, for instance.

The effect of various perchlorate salts on the ultraviolet spectrum of iron(III) was studied by Zagorets and Bulgakova<sup>61</sup>. When perchloric acid was added they observed, like Sutton<sup>57</sup>, an effect at high concentrations (> 3M), which, according to the authors<sup>61</sup>, may be ascribed to complex formation. However, when  $[ClO_4^-]$  was kept constant (5M), the effect on the iron(III) spectrum was strongly dependent on the cation (1 MH<sup>+</sup> + 2 M Ca<sup>2+</sup>, Sr<sup>2+</sup>, Ba<sup>2+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup> or Be<sup>2+</sup> or 4 M Na<sup>+</sup> or Li<sup>+</sup>). The effect varied in a simple manner with the ionic radius of the cation<sup>61</sup>.

An attempt to determine the stability constant of  $Fe(ClO_4)^{2+}$  was made by Fordham<sup>62</sup>. However, a number of objections can be raised to his treatment of the data. In the first place, the spectrophotometric L method<sup>20</sup> was used. For example, the absorbance of Fe(III) was measured with changing  $[Cl^-]$  at 340 nm. Olerup<sup>55</sup> showed that at ~ 360 nm, the value of  $\beta_1$  obtained in this way was only about half the correct value. The discrepancy is caused by  $FeCl_2^+$  formation<sup>20,55</sup> and is independent of  $[Cl^-]$ .

Secondly, Fordham<sup>62</sup> attempted to solve a system of equations that are not independent. Thus, if  $OH^-$ ,  $Cl^-$  and  $ClO_4^-$  are denoted by A, B, and C respectively, the measured quantities are (cf. eqn. (39))

$$\mathbf{a} = \frac{\beta_{\mathbf{A}} - \beta_{\mathbf{B}}}{1 + \beta_{\mathbf{B}}I} \tag{42,a}$$

$$\mathbf{b} = \frac{\beta_{\mathbf{A}} - \beta_{\mathbf{C}}}{1 + \beta_{\mathbf{C}}I} \tag{42,b}$$

$$c = \frac{\beta_B - \beta_C}{1 + \beta_C I} \tag{42,c}$$

In practice  $\beta_A \gg (\beta_B, \beta_C)$ , and it was moreover preferred to measure  $*a = a \cdot K_w$  and  $*b = b \cdot K_w$ , where  $K_w$  is the ionic product of water, but this is of no consequence to the following considerations. In addition, the quantity

$$\mathbf{d} = \frac{\beta_{\rm B}}{1 + \beta_{\rm C} I} \tag{42,d}$$

was also measured, a small variation in the ionic strength being allowed. The necessary extrapolation (Fig. 2 of ref. 62) is, however, quite spectacular, and it must be merely coincidental that a positive value of d was obtained. The value of d was not used in the subsequent calculations<sup>62</sup>. The three equations used are not independent; it is readily shown that

$$c = (b/a - 1)/I = (b/a - 1)/I$$
(43)

The values of  $\beta_A$ ,  $\beta_B$  and  $\beta_C$  suggested<sup>62</sup> must be artefacts, due to the experimental errors. Indeed, two sets of constants (one with the FeClO<sub>4</sub><sup>2+</sup> constant  $\beta_C = 0$ , one with  $\beta_C > 0$ ) were both found<sup>62</sup> to give a good fit with the experimental data.

To sum up, the stability constant values for  $Fe(ClO_4)^{2^+}$  suggested<sup>3,57-60</sup> are small, decidedly smaller than those of trivalent cobaltammine ions under comparable conditions. It is then inherently difficult to distinguish between complex formation and other effects <sup>56,61,63</sup>. Moreover, none of the studies in favour of complex formation is free from experimentally unverified assumptions. It must also be pointed out that the complex of a "third-sphere" structure suggested<sup>3</sup> cannot reasonably be responsible for the spectral effects reported<sup>57,61</sup> at high perchloric acid concentrations. It must be concluded that before the question of  $Fe^{3^+} - ClO_4^-$  association can be regarded as settled, more experimental work of high quality is required.

### (iii) Thallium (I) system

As indicated by eqns. (16) and (17), negative apparent stability constants may result if perchlorate forms stronger complexes than does the ligand studied. The thallium(I) fluoride system appears to behave in this way. However, the effects seen are very small, and great caution must be exercised in interpretation of the data. We first consider the more direct evidence for (or against) association between thallium(I) and perchlorate ions.

From the conductivity of TIClO<sub>4</sub> solutions, Robinson and Davies<sup>64</sup> estimated the stability constant at zero ionic strength as  $\sim 1.0\,M^{-1}$ . Jones et al.<sup>25</sup> recorded Raman spectra of perchlorate solutions of several metals, including thallium(I). A large number of very faint lines, not visible in the spectra of alkali metal perchlorate solutions, for example, strongly indicated some inner-sphere interaction between Tl<sup>+</sup> and ClO<sub>4</sub>. Masterton and Berka<sup>22</sup> estimated the stability constants of several complexes from literature data on osmotic coefficients. For TlClO<sub>4</sub>, a value  $\beta_1 \approx 1.6\,M^{-1}$  was reported. Zagorets and Bulgakova<sup>65</sup> studied the absorption spectrum of Tl<sup>+</sup> in the range 210 – 250 nm. When the perchloric acid concentration (0.5 – 6 M) was increased, the absorption decreased quite significantly. According to the interpretation given<sup>65</sup>, the complex formed, TlClO<sub>4</sub>, does not absorb at all in this wavelength range. The stability constant was estimated at the various perchloric acid concentrations. For zero ionic strength, extrapolation<sup>65</sup> gave  $\beta_1 \approx 0.6\,M^{-1}$ .

The agreement between the stability constants reported<sup>22,64,65</sup> must be regarded as good, considering the wide differences in experimental approach. Moreover, in particular the effects of TlClO<sub>4</sub> on Raman and absorption spectra<sup>25,65</sup> show quite convincingly that a complex is formed. The facts that ClO<sub>4</sub> has no effect on the NMR spectrum<sup>66</sup> or the apparent molar volume<sup>67</sup> of Tl<sup>I</sup> of course do not invalidate this conclusion.

The thallium(I) fluoride system in perchlorate medium was first studied by Nilsson<sup>68</sup>. The potential of a thallium amalgam electrode indicated an increase of  $[Tl^+]$  with increasing fluoride concentration. As correctly remarked<sup>68</sup>, changing activity coefficients and thallium perchlorate complex formation are possible causes of this effect. No speculation as to the contribution of each factor was made. For  $Tl^+ - F^-$ , however,  $\beta_{0,1} = 0$  was suggested, somewhat arbitrarily. If medium effects are assumed to be negligible,  $\beta_1 \approx -0.20 \pm 0.02 M^{-1}$  at 1 M ionic strength can be estimated from Nilsson's data (cf. eqn. (17,1)).

Bond<sup>69</sup> studied the same system by the polarographic method (a type of central ion measurement). As a consequence of the previous work<sup>68</sup>, the  $TI^+ - CIO_4^-$  system was studied, fluoride being regarded as a medium ion. At I = 1 M, a value  $\beta_1 = 0.32 \pm 0.04$  M<sup>-1</sup> was obtained (eqn. (17,1)). The author<sup>69</sup> pointed out that liquid junction and activity coefficient changes could, at least in part, be responsible for the observed effect. Bond and O'Donnell<sup>69,70</sup> also studied the  $TI^+ - F^-$  system by a ligand measurement method; the free fluoride concentration was determined with a fluoride

membrane electrode. In perchlorate<sup>69</sup> as well as in nitrate<sup>70</sup> medium, the electrode potential was constant, within the limits of error, when  $[Tl^+]$  was increased from 0 to 0.1 M. Thus,  $\beta_1 = \beta_{0,1} = 0$  (eqn. (25)), within the limits of error. The latter were, however, rather wide,  $\pm 0.4 \, M^{-1}$ . Moreover, contrary to the opinion expressed in one of the papers<sup>69</sup>, liquid junction potential and activity coefficient changes may also be significant when  $0.1 \, M \, Tl^+$  is substituted for  $0.1 \, M \, Na^+$ .

Since activity coefficient changes generally have different effects for different methods, the present author has studied <sup>71</sup> the Tl<sup>+</sup> – F<sup>-</sup> system in perchlorate medium using different method from those used earlier <sup>68</sup> – <sup>70</sup>. The ionic strength 0.5 M was chosen to enhance the difference in  $\beta_1$ ; cf. eqn. (41). The solubility of TlIO<sub>3</sub>(s) was measured as a function of  $\{F^-\}$ . As this is a type of central ion measurement, a negative apparent stability constant for TlF was obtained,  $\beta_1 = -0.27 \pm 0.03 \, M^{-1}$ . Furthermore, the system was studied with a ligand method consisting of measuring the solubility of BaF<sub>2</sub>(s) in solutions of varying  $\{F^-\}$  and  $\{Tl^+\}$ . Up to  $\{Tl^+\}$  = 0.1 M, the solubility was independent of  $\{Tl^+\}$ , which gives an apparent constant  $\beta_1 = 0.00 \, (-1) \, 0.05 \, M^{-1}$  (errors refer to a 99% confidence level). In combination (eqns. (39) and (40)), the values of  $\beta_1$  give  $\beta_{0,1} = 0.00 \, (-1) \, 0.06 \, M^{-1}$  for the formation of TIF, and  $\beta_{1,0} = 0.32 \pm 0.07 \, M^{-1}$  for the formation of TIClO<sub>4</sub>.

Although activity coefficient changes might play a significant role in any of the various studies discussed<sup>68-71</sup>, the good agreement obtained, for central ion measurements <sup>68,69,71</sup> as well as for ligand measurements<sup>69-71</sup>, rather suggests that medium effects are of minor importance. Thus, it seems safe to conclude that  $Tl^4$  forms a stronger complex with  $ClO_4$  than with  $F^-$ .

### (iv) Other systems

There seems to be agreement<sup>23,24,72</sup> that, among the alkali metals, perchlorate association with lithium and sodium is negligible, while association with the heavier ions is small but significant.

For  $\mathrm{Hg^I}$ , potentiometric measurements by Hietanen and Sillén<sup>73</sup> strongly indicated the formation of a complex  $\mathrm{Hg_2(ClO_4)^+}$  stronger than the corresponding  $\mathrm{Hg^{II}-ClO_4^-}$  complex. Kinetic data <sup>74</sup> also indicated a  $\mathrm{Hg^I}-\mathrm{ClO_4^-}$  association.

Association between  $Zn^{2+}$  and  $ClO_4^-$  has been proposed<sup>75,76</sup>, but other data<sup>77,78</sup> indicate this association to be negligible.  $Cd^{2+} - ClO_4^-$  association has also been suggested<sup>76,79</sup>.

Among the trivalent lanthanides, cerium(III) in particular has been subject to speculation on perchlorate complex formation. Thus, Heidt and Berestecki<sup>80</sup>, and Sutcliffe and Weber<sup>81</sup>, inferred from spectral changes that Ce(ClO<sub>4</sub>)<sup>2+</sup> was formed. Values of the stability constant were estimated. These studies were, however, criticized by Krumholz<sup>29</sup>, on the grounds of inconsistencies in the models proposed<sup>80,81</sup>. The spectrum of Nd<sup>III</sup> in perchlorate media was interpreted<sup>29</sup> in terms of association at

high  $[ClO_4^-]$  and medium effects at low  $[ClO_4^-]$ . A slight association between  $La^{3+}$  and  $ClO_4^-$  was assumed by Sykes<sup>3</sup>.

Association of trivalent americium with perchlorate was inferred by Baisden et al.<sup>82</sup> from solvent extraction data.

Jones and Bjerrum<sup>83</sup> studied the kinetics of the formation of inner-sphere  $Cr(H_2O)_5(ClO_4)^{2+}$  and found that the data could be explained if it was assumed that inner-sphere complex formation was preceded by complete formation of the outer-sphere complex  $Cr(H_2O)_6(ClO_4)^{2+}$ .

Rogers and Waind<sup>84</sup>, from spectrophotometric data, found evidence for a complex of thallium(III) with perchlorate at high perchlorate concentration.

Reports of perchlorate association with tetravalent metal ions are quite scarce. Smith and  $Getz^{85}$  found that the effect of  $ClO_4^-$  on the oxidizing properties of  $Ce^{IV}$  can be best explained by assuming a perchlorate complex to be formed. Weak association of perchlorate with  $U^{IV}$  and  $Po^{IV}$  has been claimed<sup>86,87</sup>. The suggested formation<sup>88</sup> of  $Zr(ClO_4)_6^{2-}$  must be in error.

### D. CONCLUSIONS

When equilibria are studied in constant perchlorate media, perchlorate association may cause an error that can, as shown in Section B, be in principle eliminated. In the view of the present author it is natural that it also should be eliminated, when possible. It must be said immediately, however, that for relatively few central ions has perchlorate association been proven beyond doubt to be of a magnitude that necessitates significant corrections under normal circumstances.

Generally, inert complex ions, or at least cobaltammine ions, form relatively strong perchlorate complexes. These are strong enough, both in an absolute sense and relative to complexes of other ligands, to make corrections necessary (cf. eqns. (39) and (40)). Labile aquated metal ions show, as far as can be judged from the data on hand, a perchlorate association that is relatively weak, and probably negligible for some metal ions. The effect on the denominators of eqns. (39) and (40) is then modest. If strong complexes of these metal ions are studied, perchlorate association is therefore of minor consequence. On the other hand, it should be emphasized that when markedly weak complexes are studied, the competing perchlorate complex, although weak as well, may be relatively significant, having an effect on the numerator of eqn. (39). This is illustrated by the studies on the thallium(I) fluoride system cited above (p.257).

It is evident that although the metal ions investigated form weak perchlorate complexes only, this is not necessarily true for all of the several metal ions for which reliable data are largely lacking. It may also be noted here that the data on hand indicate no simple relation between the charge (or charge density) of an ion and its affinity to the perchlorate ion.

### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENT**

I thank Professor S. Fronzeus, Lund, for a stimulating discussion. This work has been supported financially by the Swedish Natural Science Research Council.

#### REFERENCES

- 1 A.E. Martell and L.G. Sillén, Stability Constants, The Chemical Society, London, 1964; Stability Constants, Supplement No. 1, The Chemical Society, London, 1971.
- 2 l. Leden, Potentiometrisk öndersokning av några kadmiumsalters komplexitet, Lund, 1943.
- 3 K.W. Sykes, J. Chem. Soc., London, (1959) 2473.
- 4 R. Larsson, Acta Chem. Scand., 14 (1960) 697.
- 5 L. Johansson, Acta Chem. Scand., 25 (1971) 3763.
- 6 M.T. Beck, Coord. Chem. Rev., 3 (1968) 91.
- 7 L. Heck, Inorg. Nucl. Chem. Lett., 7 (1971) 701.
- 8 F.J.C. Rossotti and H. Rossotti, The Determination of Stability Constants, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1961.
- 9 S. Fronzeus, Komplexsystem hos koppar, Lund, 1948.
- 10 G. Biedermann, Ark. Kemi, 9 (1956) 277.
- 11 G. Biedermann and L. Ciavatta, Acta Chem. Scand., 15 (1961) 1347.
- 12 L.G. Sillén, J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 8 (1958) 176.
- 13 V.V. Fomin. Radiokhimiva, 9 (1967) 652.
- 14 O. Ginstrup, Acta Chem. Scand., 24 (1970) 875.
- 15 H. Ohtaki and G. Biedermann, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jap., 44 (1971) 1515.
- 16 L. Johansson, Acta Chem. Scand., 27 (1973) 1637.
- 17 L. Johansson, Acta Chem. Scand., 27 (1973).
- 18 L. Johansson, Coord. Chem. Rev., 3 (1968) 293.
- 19 S. Fronaeus, Tech. Inorg. Chem., 1 (1969) 1.
- 20 L. Johansson, Acta Chem. Scand., 25 (1971) 3569.
- 21 M.G. Evans and G.H. Nancollas, Trans. Faraday Soc., 49 (1953) 363.
- 22 W.L. Masterton and L.H. Berka, J. Phys. Chem., 70 (1966) 1924.
- 23 R. Bury, M.-C. Justice and J.-C. Justice, J. Chim. Phys. Physicochim. Biol., 67 (1970) 2045.
- 24 A.D'Aprano, J. Phys. Chem., 75 (1971) 3290.
- 25 M.M. Jones, E.A. Jones, D.F. Harmon and R.T. Semmes, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 83 (1961) 2038.
- 26 R.E. Hester and R.A. Plane, Inorg. Chem., 3 (1964) 769.
- 27 F. Klanberg, J.P. Hunt and H.W. Dodgen, Inorg. Chem., 2 (1963) 139.
- 28 H. Coll, R.V. Nauman and P.W. West, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 81 (1959) 1284.
- 29 P. Krumholz, J. Phys. Chem., 63 (1959) 1313.
- 30 M. Eigen and K. Tamm, Z. Elektrochem., 66 (1962) 107.
- 31 R. Larsson, Acta Chem. Scand., 18 (1964) 1923.
- 32 G.R. Choppin, D.E. Henrie and K. Buijs, Inorg. Chem., 5 (1966) 1743.
- 33 D.W. Archer, D.A. East and C.B. Monk, J. Chem. Soc., London, (1965) 720.
- 34 S. Katayama and R. Tamamushi, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jap., 41 (1968) 606.
- 35 E.W. Davies and C.B. Monk, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 80 (1958) 5032.
- 36 M.G. Burnett, J. Chem. Soc. A, (1970) 2480.
- 37 R.A. Wynveen, J.L. Dye and C.H. Brubaker, Jr., J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 82 (1960) 4441.
- 38 C.H. Brubaker, Jr. and T.E. Haas, J. Phys. Chem., 65 (1961) 866.
- 39 S.H. Laurie and C.B. Monk, J. Chem. Soc., London, (1963) 3343.
- 40 W.L. Masterton and J.A. Scola, J. Phys. Chem., 68 (1964) 14.
- 41 M. Mazzei and M. Lederer, J. Chromatogr., 31 (1967) 196.
- 42 H. Yoneda, M. Muto, T. Baba and T. Miura, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jap., 44 (1971) 689.
- 43 C.J. Nyman and R.A. Plane, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 82 (1960) 5787.

- 44 S.F. Mason and B.J. Norman, J. Chem. Soc. A, (1966) 307.
- 45 V.E. Mironov, A.P. Smirnov, G.K. Ragulin and I.A. Maretina, Zh. Fiz. Khim., 43 (1969) 731.
- 46 V.E. Mironov and V.A. Fedorov, Zh. Neorg. Khim., 7 (1962) 2524.
- 47 V.A. Fedorov, V.E. Mironov and F.Ya. Kulba, Zh. Neorg. Khim., 7 (1962) 2528.
- 48 V.E. Mironov, Usp. Khim., 35 (1966) 1102.
- 49 V.E. Mironov, K.N. Lyubomirova and G.K. Ragulín, Zh. Fiz. Khim., 44 (1970) 416.
- 50 L. Heck, Inorg. Nucl. Chem. Lett., 7 (1971) 709.
- 51 L. Heck, Habilitationsschrift, Saarbrücken, 1972.
- 52 N. Tanaka, Y. Kobayashi and M. Kamada, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jap., 40 (1967) 2839.
- 53 E.L. King, J.H. Espenson and R.E. Visco, J. Phys. Chem., 63 (1959) 755.
- 54 E. Rabinowitch and W.H. Stockmayer, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 64 (1942) 335.
- 55 H. Olerup, Järnkloridernas komplexitet, Lund, 1944.
- 56 A.R. Olson and T.R. Simonson, J. Chem. Phys., 17 (1949) 1322.
- 57 J. Sutton, Nature (London), 169 (1952) 71.
- 58 K.W. Sykes, The Kinetics and Mechanism of Inorganic Reactions in Solution, The Chemical Society, London, 1954, p. 64.
- 59 R.A. Horne, Nature (London), 181 (1958) 410.
- 60 D.H. Richards and K.W. Sykes, J. Chem. Soc., London, (1960) 3626.
- 61 P.A. Zagorets and G.P. Bulgakova, Zh. Fiz. Khim., 39 (1965) 289.
- 62 A.W. Fordham, Aust. J. Chem., 22 (1969) 1111.
- 63 M.J.M. Woods, P.K. Gallagher and E.L. King, Inorg. Chem., 1 (1962) 55.
- 64 R.A. Robinson and C.W. Davies, J. Chem. Soc., London, (1937) 574.
- 65 P.A. Zagorets and G.P. Bulgakova, Zh. Neorg. Khim., 12 (1967) 347.
- 66 R. Freeman, R.P.H. Gasser, R.E. Richards and D.H. Wheeler, Mol. Phys., 2 (1959) 75.
- 67 V. Jedinakova and J. Celeda, Coll. Czech. Chem. Commun., 37 (1971) 3071.
- 68 R.O. Nilsson, Ark. Kemi, 10 (1957) 363.
- 69 A.M. Bond, J. Phys. Chem., 74 (1970) 331.
- 70 A.M. Bond and T.A. O'Donnell, J. Electroanal. Chem., 26 (1970) 137.
- 71 L. Johansson, Acta Chem. Scand., 27 (1973) 1832.
- 72 C.B. Monk, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 70 (1948) 3281.
- 73 S. Hietanen and L.G. Sillén, Ark. Kemi, 10 (1956) 103.
- 74 A.M. Armstrong and J. Halpern, Can. J. Chem., 35 (1957) 1020.
- 75 J.L. Dye, M.P. Faber and D.L. Karl, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 82 (1960) 314.
- 76 V. Frei and J. Podlaková, Chem. Ztg., 87 (1963) 47.
- 77 R.H. Stokes and B.J. Levien, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 68 (1946) 333.
- 78 C.W. Davies and G.O. Thomas, J. Chem. Soc., London, (1958) 3660.
- 79 A.C. Norris, R.J. Soilleux and R.K. Cosgrove, Inorg. Nucl. Chem. Lett., 8 (1972) 293.
- 80 L.J. Heidt and J. Berestecki, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 77 (1955) 2049.
- 81 L.H. Sutcliffe and J.R. Weber, Trans. Faraday Soc., 52 (1956) 1225.
- 82 P.A. Baisden, G.R. Choppin and W.F. Kinard, J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34 (1972) 2029.
- 83 K.M. Jones and J. Bjerrum, Acta Chem. Scand., 19 (1965) 974.
- 84 T.E. Rogers and G.M. Waind, Trans. Faraday Soc., 57 (1961) 1360.
- 85 G.F. Smith and C.A. Getz, Ind. Eng. Chem., Anal. Ed., 10 (1938) 191.
- 86 V.M. Vdovenko, G.A. Romanov and V.A. Shcherbakov, Radiokhimiya, 5 (1963) 664.
- 87 I.E. Starik and N.I. Ampelogova, Radiokhimiya, 7 (1965) 658.
- 88 H.J. Emeleus and J.S. Anderson, Modern Aspects of Inorganic Chemistry, 3rd edn., Routledge & Kegan Paul, London, 1960, p. 251.